STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Williamsburg County  
Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

---

RECEIVED

JUL 18 2016

SO SUPREME COURT

ANDRE A. ROBINSON,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-002202

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

John H. Strom  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

**ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did the PCR court err in finding Petitioner knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently pled guilty where plea counsel failed to adequately advise Petitioner of the elements of murder, the definition of malice, and his possible defenses?

## STATEMENT

### **Relevant Facts**

Petitioner was arrested for the murder of his cousin, Myron McCray. App. 7, l. 21 - 11, l. 25. McCray and Petitioner were not only cousins but good friends. *Id.* In the early morning hours of September 9, 2012, the two men were drinking at a small rural nightclub, informally known as the "Boom Boom Room", in Williamsburg County located outside of Kingstree. *Id.*

The next morning, the Boom Boom Room's owner found McCray's body facedown behind the club. There were "severe cuts and gashes" on his head. App. 8, ll. 5-10. His body appeared to have been dragged an unknown distance. *Id.* at ll. 13-16.

Petitioner was the last person seen with McCray. App. 8, l. 17 - 9, l. 4. He was interviewed by law enforcement and eventually confessed that during a fight he killed McCray. App. 9, ll. 19-24. Appellant told law enforcement the fight began when McCray, who had a key to the Boom Boom Room, refused to get Petitioner a beer after closing time. *Id.*

The two men argued. McCray shoved Petitioner and the cousins "started tussling." App. 10, ll. 6-19. Petitioner explained that, at some point during the fight, McCray fell down and Petitioner struck McCray's head against a concrete slab several times. App. 10, l. 20 - 11, l. 5. Realizing that he had just unintentionally killed his good friend and cousin, Petitioner panicked and moved McCray's body behind the nightclub; then disposed of his clothes. App. 9, ll. 5-24.

### **Guilty Plea**

Less than eight months after the incident, Petitioner pled guilty to murder on March 5, 2013 before the Honorable Clifton Newman. Assistant Solicitor Kimberly Barr represented the State. Doward Harvin represented Petitioner.

During the colloquy, Petitioner stated that he did not have any defenses to the murder charge. App. 4, ll. 11-16. Judge Newman then asked Petitioner, "what makes you guilty of murder?" App. 5, l. 8 - 6, l. 11. Petitioner responded that he killed his cousin. When asked by Judge Newman why he killed his cousin, Petitioner stated "It wasn't intentional. It started off with an argument and a fight. It went too far." *Id.*

Judge Newman then explained that murder "is the intentional killing of another person with malice" and that if Petitioner claimed it was an accident, he could have a legal defense to the charge. *Id.* The court did not define malice. Petitioner indicated that he still wished to plead guilty. *Id.* Judge Newman accepted that there was a factual basis for the guilty plea and sentenced Petitioner to thirty years imprisonment. App. 18, l. 20 - 20, l. 2.

#### **PCR Application and Evidentiary Hearing**

Petitioner filed a PCR application on January 15, 2014 alleging that plea counsel was ineffective for failing to inform him of possible defenses and lesser included offenses, such as voluntary manslaughter. App. 22 - 28. The State filed a Return on September 24, 2014. App. 29 - 34. Petitioner submitted an amended PCR application on October 7, 2014. App. 36 - 37.

An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Steven H. John on July 14, 2015. Charles Brooks, III, represented Petitioner. Assistant Attorney General Daniel Gourley represented the State. Petitioner and plea counsel both testified at the hearing.

#### **Testimony of Petitioner**

Petitioner testified that he accidentally killed his cousin and that his quick guilty plea was made unintelligently while he was under severe emotional stress. App. 47, ll. 1-12. Petitioner

stated that he did not understand the definition of malice at the time of the guilty plea. App. 44, 1. 7 - 45, 1. 7.

Specifically, Petitioner did not understand that the unlawful killing of another without malice would constitute voluntary manslaughter. *Id.* He explained that had he known that a jury could have found him guilty of manslaughter instead of murder, he would not have pled guilty, but would have insisted on standing trial. *Id.*

Petitioner recalled that plea counsel did not advise him about the malice element of murder and did not attempt to slow down the case so that Petitioner would have the opportunity to calm down and rationally consider his options. App. 46, ll. 4 - 48, 1. 14.

#### Testimony of Plea Counsel

Plea counsel testified that he was appointed to represent Petitioner and that the case was “one of the fast murder pleas we have [had] in our county.” App. 57, ll. 12-14. He recalled that the State had refused to allow Petitioner to plead to manslaughter. App. 56, 1. 6 - 57, 1. 14. Counsel also recalled that Petitioner waived his preliminary hearing and indictment. *Id.*

However, counsel then contradicted himself, stating that he met with Petitioner at his preliminary hearing and one other occasion prior to the guilty plea. App. 59, ll. 21-25. Counsel claimed that he went over the difference between manslaughter and murder with Petitioner in “fairly good detail.” App. 60, ll. 20-24.

#### Ruling from the Bench and Order of Dismissal

Ruling from the bench at the end of the hearing, the PCR court denied Petitioner’s application. App. 63, 1. 2 - 64, 1. 22. The court ruled that Petitioner had entered into the guilty

plea knowingly and that Judge Newman had informed Petitioner that by pleading guilty to murder he was admitting to having intentionally killed his cousin. *Id.*

On August 4, 2015, the PCR court issued a written order of dismissal. App. 67 - 76. Reiterating its earlier ruling, the court held that Petitioner had failed to prove that plea counsel did not advise him as to the elements of murder and the definition of malice. App. 73 - 74.

The court found plea counsel's testimony regarding his preparation of the case to be credible. The court also noted that Petitioner admitted his guilt to the court and "was fully informed of the nature and consequences of his plea by his attorney and was advised further by the plea court." App. 74.

This petition follows.

## ARGUMENT

**The PCR court erred in finding Petitioner knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently pled guilty where plea counsel failed to adequately advise Petitioner of the elements of murder, the definition of malice and possible defenses.**

The United States Supreme Court has held that “[g]uilty pleas are no more foolproof than full trials to the court or jury. Accordingly, we take great precautions against unsound results.” *Brady v. United States*, 397 U.S. 742, 758 (1970). An “unsound result” occurs when a defendant does not knowingly, voluntarily, or intelligently plead guilty. *See Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. 238 (1969) (provides that a defendant’s decision to plead guilty must be knowingly and voluntarily made); *see also State v. Hazel*, 275 S.C. 392, 271 S.E.2d 602 (1980) (provides that the record must reflect that the defendant freely and intelligently waived his constitutional trial rights and had a full understanding of the consequences of the plea).

Furthermore, the South Carolina Supreme Court has held that the difference “between a valid guilty plea and an invalid guilty plea lies in the knowing and voluntary nature of the plea.” *Berry v. State*, 381 S.C. 630, 635, 675 S.E.2d 425, 427 (2009). However, “the voluntariness of a guilty plea is not determined by an examination of a specific inquiry made by the sentencing judge alone, but is determined from both the record made at the time of the entry of the guilty plea, and also from the record of the PCR hearing.” *Holden v. State*, 393 S.C. 565, 572-74, 713 S.E.2d 611, 612-15 (2011).

In this case, Petitioner testified at the evidentiary hearing that plea counsel never discussed the elements of murder with him and never explained the definition of malice. App. 44, l. 7 45, l. 17. Similarly, plea counsel did not advise Petitioner that, under the facts of his case, he could argue that the killing was the unintentional result of a fight and, thus, voluntary manslaughter. *Id.*

The plea colloquy supports Petitioner's testimony. Petitioner told Judge Newman that he had no defenses to the murder charge. App. 5, l. 4 - 6, l. 14. When Judge Newman asked Petitioner why he killed his cousin, Petitioner stated that "[i]t wasn't intentional." *Id.* This answer clearly surprised Judge Newman, who then briefly explained that murder was the "intentional killing of another person with malice." *Id.* Notably, the court did not give a definition of malice. *Id.*

Furthermore, Petitioner testified that had he been advised that he had a possible defense or could have been convicted of manslaughter, he would not have pled guilty. App. 44, l. 7 - 47, l. 12; *See Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 57-59 (1985) (provides, in pertinent part: To prove ineffective assistance of counsel from a guilty plea, the defendant must show: (1) "the voluntariness of the plea depends on whether counsel's advice was within the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases" and (2) that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, [the defendant] would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial."). Petitioner also testified that the only reason he pled guilty was because of plea counsel's advice and the emotional distress he was under. App. 47, ll. 1-13.

Although Petitioner pled guilty, an "unsound result" occurred in this case. The record does not reflect that Petitioner freely and intelligently waived his constitutional trial rights as plea counsel failed to inform him of the elements of murder, including the definition of malice, and of possible defenses. *See Brady*, 397 U.S. at 758; *see also Boykin*, 395 U.S. 238; *accord Hazel*, 275 S.C. 392, 271 S.E.2d 602; *Berry*, 381 S.C. at 635, 675 S.E.2d at 427.