STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Williamsburg County  
Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

---

2014-CP-45-027  
Appellate Case No. 2015-002202

---

ANDRE A. ROBINSON,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JULIE A. COLEMAN  
Assistant Attorney General  
Bar No. 102214

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

**RECEIVED**

DEC 16 2016

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Williamsburg County Clerk of Court. Petitioner was true bill indicted at the October 2012 term of the Williamsburg County Grand Jury for Murder (2012-GS-45-0269). Doward Harvin, Esquire represented Petitioner. On March 5, 2013, Petitioner pled guilty as indicted before the Honorable Clifton Newman. Judge Newman sentenced Petitioner to a thirty year term of imprisonment. Petitioner did not appeal his sentence or conviction.

Petitioner subsequently filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) on January 15, 2014<sup>1</sup> (C.A. No. 2014-CP-45-027). Respondent filed its Return on September 24, 2014. An evidentiary hearing was held on July 14, 2015, at the Sumter County Courthouse. The Honorable Steven H. John issued an Order of Dismissal denying and dismissing the application signed on August 4, 2015 and filed on September 16, 2015.

Petitioner filed a timely Notice of Appeal of the denial of his post-conviction relief application on October 23, 2015. Petitioner's Appendix and Petition for Writ of Certiorari were filed on July 18, 2016. This Return to the Petition for Writ of Certiorari follows.

---

<sup>1</sup> The application was received by Respondent on July 18, 2014.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard of review of a post-conviction relief evidentiary hearing is whether "any evidence of probative value" exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

## ARGUMENT

### **I. Probative evidence supports the PCR court's finding that the plea judge correctly found Applicant's guilty plea was freely, voluntarily, and intelligently made.**

Petitioner argues the PCR Court erred in finding that Applicant's guilty plea was knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently made. Respondent submits that the PCR Court correctly relied on probative evidence in making its decision, and this Court should affirm its findings.

#### Relevant Law

In order to find a guilty plea is voluntarily and knowingly entered into, the record must establish the defendant had a full understanding of the consequences of his plea and the charges against him. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S. Ct. 1709, 23 L.Ed.2d 274 (1969). Defendant's knowing and voluntary waiver of statutory or constitutional rights must be established by a complete record, and "may be accomplished by colloquy between court and defendant, between court and defendant's counsel, or both." Roddy v. State, 339 S.C. 29, 34, 528 S.E.2d 418, 421 (2000) (citing State v. Ray, 310 S.C. 431, 437, 427 S.E.2d 171, 174 (1993)). A guilty plea is a solemn, judicial admission of the truth of the charges against an individual; thus, a criminal inmate's right to contest the validity of such a plea is usually, but not invariably, foreclosed. Dalton v. State, 376 S.C. 130, 137-38, 654 S.E.2d 870, 874 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing Blackledge v. Allison, 431 U.S. 63, 97 S. Ct. 1621, 52 L.Ed.2d 136 (1977)). Therefore, statements made during a guilty plea should be considered conclusive unless a criminal inmate presents valid reasons why he should be allowed to depart from the truth of his statements. Crawford v. United States, 519 F.2d 347 (4th Cir.1975).

### Discussion

Petitioner argues that he did not knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently plead guilty because Plea Counsel failed to adequately advise Petitioner of the elements of murder, the definition of malice, and possible defenses. However, the PCR Court properly found that Petitioner was fully informed of the nature and consequences of his plea by his attorney and further by the plea court, and Petitioner failed to present valid reasons why he should be allowed to depart from the truth of his statements at the guilty plea.

First, it is important to note that the PCR Court found Plea Counsel's testimony to be credible. App. 73. The PCR judge was in the best position to determine credibility and, as such, his findings must be given great deference. See Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 13, 430 S.E.2d 517, 522 (1993) (finding great deference is given to the PCR judge's findings on the credibility of witnesses); Menne v. Keowee Key Prop. Owners' Ass'n, Inc., 368 S.C. 557, 567, 629 S.E.2d 690, 696 (Ct. App. 2006) ("Because the appellate court lacks the opportunity for direct observation of the witnesses, it should accord great deference to trial court findings where matters of credibility are involved.").

At the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner testified that he was not informed on the charges he was pleading guilty to.

A: Well, I pled to a murder. I pled to murder, but, you know, it was not without a clear a well-informed understanding of what I was pleading to, you know, and I didn't know the exact definition of malice. I didn't know that manslaughter would be the taking of someone's life with legal, you know, provocation. You know, things like that I was not informed of by my – by my attorney then. You know, I didn't know that I could've maybe could've gone to trial and might have got charged, you know, guilty under a lesser-included offense.

Q: Okay. And did you go over these things with Mr. Harvin?

A: No, sir.

App. 44 lines 9-18, 45 lines 6-7.

Plea Counsel testified that he had spent quite a lot of time on Petitioner's case. App. 56. He stated that he negotiated the possibility of pleading guilty to manslaughter rather than murder with the Solicitor, but she would not allow it. App. 58. He stated that he discussed with Petitioner how and why a trial would likely not work in his favor. App. 58-59. Plea Counsel testified that, before the guilty plea, he explained to Petitioner "in fairly good detail" the difference between a manslaughter case and a murder case, as well as the fact that murder was a day-for-day sentence as opposed to a non-parole-able offense. App.60-61.

The PCR Court relied on this testimony, as well as the colloquy between Petitioner and the plea judge, in making its ruling. The PCR Court pointed out on the record at the hearing that the plea judge specifically questioned Petitioner about all of these issues, including the fact that murder is a non-parole-able offense and the issue of whether the crime was intentional or unintentional. App. 63-64. The PCR Court noted that the plea judge specifically asked Petitioner if he wished to waive his right to present defenses and if he was pleading guilty to intentionally killing the victim, and Petitioner responded that he did. App. 64.

All of the relevant testimony from the PCR hearing and the guilty plea is probative evidence that the PCR Court relied on in making its decision to deny post-conviction relief. Petitioner failed to present any credible evidence to allow him to depart from his statements at the guilty plea, and thus he failed to meet his burden of proving that his guilty plea was involuntary. Because the PCR Court's decision in denying the petition for post-conviction relief was supported by the probative evidence above, this Court should affirm its denial of the application and deny this Petition for Writ of Certiorari, as certiorari is not warranted in this case.

**CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, the State submits that the Petition should be denied. Should this Court grant the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, Respondent requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.